
 

Health and Housing 
Scrutiny Committee 

Agenda 
 
 9.30 am Wednesday, 15 

July 2020 
Microsoft Teams 

 
 
 

  
 

 
In accordance with Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2020, this meeting will be held on a virtual basis. Members of 

the Public can view a live stream of the meeting at: 

https://www.darlington.gov.uk/livemeetings     
 

1.   Introduction/Attendance at Meeting  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

3.   Covid Update –  
Report of the Director of Children and Adults Services and Director of Economic 
Growth and Neighbourhood Services 
 (Pages 1 - 12) 
 

 (a)   Darlington Local Outbreak Control Plan (Pages 13 - 52) 
 

4.   Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust Recovery/'Build Back Better' 
Plans –  
Report of the Director of Operations – Durham & Darlington, Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
 (Pages 53 - 56) 
 

5.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (if any) which in the opinion of the Chair of this 
Committee are of an urgent nature and can be discussed at the meeting.  
 

6.   Questions  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.darlington.gov.uk/livemeetings


     
 

Luke Swinhoe 
Assistant Director Law and Governance 

 
Tuesday, 7 July 2020 
 
Town Hall  
Darlington. 
 
 
Membership 
Councillors Bell, Dr. Chou, Donoghue, Heslop, Layton, Lee, McEwan, Newall, Tostevin 
and Wright 
 

If you need this information in a different language or format or you have any other 
queries on this agenda please contact Hannah Fay, Democratic Officer, Resources 
Group, during normal office hours 8.30 a.m. to 4.45 p.m. Mondays to Thursdays and 
8.30 a.m. to 4.15 p.m. Fridays email: hannah.fay@darlington.gov.uk or telephone 
01325 405801 



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

SPECIAL HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 JULY 2020 

 

 
 

COVID UPDATE 
 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To provide Scrutiny with an overview of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the Council’s 

response with a focus on health protection and outbreak management by 
implementing government policy. 
 

2. To update Members on decisions taken with regard to the services relevant to this 
Committee.    
 

Background 
 
Virus and disease 
 
3. Coronaviruses (CoV) are a large family of viruses that cause respiratory illness.  A 

novel coronavirus (nCoV) is a new strain that has not previously been identified in 
humans. 

 
4. On 31 December 2019 a cluster of pneumonia cases of unknown cause was 

reported in Wuhan City, Hubei Province, China.  The World Health Organisation 
(WHO) named the novel coronavirus as “severe acute respiratory syndrome 
Coronavirus 2” (SARS – COV -) while the coronavirus disease associated with it is 
referred to as COVID-19. 

 
5. As with other respiratory illnesses, symptoms of COVID-19 can include a new 

cough, fever, runny nose and other symptoms, including loss of smell or taste.  
Most people experience mild to moderate illness and recover without needing 
specialist treatment.  It can be more severe for some people.   

 
6. Older people and people with pre-existing medical conditions (e.g. heart disease, 

diabetes) appear to be more vulnerable to becoming seriously ill. 
 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Spread 
 
7. On the 31 January 2020 the WHO declared the outbreak as a public health 

emergency of international concern (PHEIC).  At that stage, there were 9,847 
confirmed cases ‘globally’ with 9,826 in China. 

 
8. On the 11 March 2020 the WHO declared the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic 

indicating the new disease was spreading globally.  While the outbreak initially 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

occurred in China, it spread rapidly.  By mid-March 2020 Europe became the 
epicentre for the disease. 

 
9. The outbreak has spread globally with 213 countries/territories affected.  As at 27 

May 2020 there were 5,488,825 cases globally and 349,095 deaths. 
 

The number of reported cases in the UK as of 9 June 2020 was 289,140 with 
40,883 reported deaths. 

 
North East reported cases were 10,390 with 1,400 reported deaths up to 8 June 
2020. 

 
Darlington cumulative confirmed cases were 399 as of 9 June, a rate of 374.4 per 
100,000. 

 
Cumulative COVID-19 hospital deaths for County Durham and Darlington 
Foundation NHS Trust is 243 as of 8 June 2020, a rate of 44.6 per 100,000. 

 
10. International, national and local statistics are available from the following sites: 

 
https://covid19.who.int/ 
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/ 
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view  
https://lga_research/covid-19-case-tracker 
 

Response 
 
National 
 
11. In the UK the national response has been led by the Department of Health and 

Social Care (DHSC) with Chief Medical Officers (4) providing public health advice 
to all agencies. 

 
12. The Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies (SAGE) is responsible for ensuring 

co-ordinated scientific advice is provided to decision makers in COBR (the Civil 
Contingencies Committee which convenes in the Cabinet Office Briefing Rooms). 

 
13. In England the tripartite partnership of DHSC, Public Health England (PHE) and 

NHS England provides strategic oversight and direction for the health and adult 
social care response to a pandemic with Department for Education (DfE) leading on 
the Children’s social care response. 

 
14. In the initial stages of the outbreak, the NHS and PHE were proactive in contacting 

people who had been at risk of being infected, testing them, and where people 
tested positive tracing who they may have come into contact with and 
managing/treating the cases. 

 
15. Public Health England, supported by staff at regional centres provides specialist 

technical expertise and advice.  Darlington Borough Council has been in regular 
contact with these agencies. 

 
16. DHSC launched a UK-wide public information campaign to advise the public on 

how to slow the spread of the virus and reduce the impact on NHS services.  

Page 2

https://covid19.who.int/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view
https://lga_research/covid-19-case-tracker


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Information promoting important hygiene messages appeared in print, broadcast 
and social media. 

 
17. DHSC worked across government to produce sector-specific guidance, to reflect 

the challenges across a number of settings, for example, transport, education, 
social care and hospitality.  As the outbreak spread and more was learned about 
the disease guidance was revised. 

 
Policy announcement milestones 
 

(Note, this is not an exhaustive description the following are the key milestones 
mostly relating to public health related response) 

 
18. On 3 March 2020 the government published its Coronavirus (COVID-19) Action 

Plan which set out a four-phase response: 
 
Contain:  detect early cases and follow up. 
Delay:   slow the spread, lower the peak impact, push away from Winter. 
Research: learn about the disease, innovate response, diagnostics, drugs and 

vaccines. 
Mitigate: care for people who are ill, support hospitals, maintain essential 

services. 
 
19. On 12 March 2020 the government published “stay at home” guidance.  The 

government recognised the virus was spreading generally throughout the country, 
no longer being contained therefore shifting the plan from ‘Contain’ to ‘Delay’. 

 
20. A UK-wide lockdown was announced on 23 March 2020, the instruction was “Stay 

at home, Protect the NHS and Save Lives”.  The government advised that police 
would enforce the rules re social distancing and closure regulations. 

 
21. Emergency legislation was introduced, the Coronavirus Act 2020 received Royal 

Assent on 25 March 2020. The legislation gives further powers to government to 
slow the spread of the virus; reduce the cost and administrative burden on public 
bodies and limit the impact of potential staffing shortages on the delivery of public 
services. 

 
22. Throughout March, April and May 2020 a number of announcements were made in 

relation to job retention, furloughing scheme, financial support, postponement of 
elections etc.  Those areas although important, are not the focus of this report. 

 
23. On 16 April it was confirmed that lockdown would be extended and set out “five 

tests” that must be met to allow easing of restrictions: 
 

(a) Evidence that the NHS can cope. 
(b) A sustained fall in death rates (daily). 
(c) Evidence that the Reproduction number (R) is decreasing. 
(d) Confidence in testing arrangements, enough PPE to meet demand. 
(e) No risk of a second peak. 

 
24. “Our Plan to Rebuild the UK (COVID-19 Recovery Strategy)” was launched on 

11 May 2020.  This set out a five point scale to indicate the level of threat to society 

Page 3



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

due to COVID-19 and included a phased approach to recovery, with incremental 
steps to relax control and public protection measures. 

 
 
Response 
 
Regional 

 
25. In the North East, the initial emergency preparedness, resilience and 

response to COVID-19 was structured around the established 
North East Pandemic Influenza Framework, which had developed by 
NHS England (NHSE) and Public Health England (PHE) and adopted by all three 
Local Resilience Forums (LRFs) in the region. 

 
26. Initially, the command and control arrangements in the framework 

operated on a precautionary shadow basis, before the regional Health 
Strategic Coordination Group was stood-up formally in early March 2020 
when the outbreak began to escalate in the region. 

 
27. Public Health England took the lead in issuing public information and 

guidance and advice to partners in the local health system, universities, 
local boarding schools, prisons, LRFs, airports and ports. Detection 
and contact tracing also took place in the early phase of the pandemic 
until early March when the national plan shifted from ‘contain’ to ‘delay’. 

 
Response 
 
Local 
 
28. The council responded locally, working with PHE, ensuring that local stakeholders 

received the necessary guidance and that information and advice was shared with 
services within the council. The council worked very closely with PHE on detection 
and tracing of cases during the early phases of the outbreak providing advice to 
those affected. Links to the national coronavirus information and advice from 
government and PHE were provided via our website and we supported the national 
public information campaign via our social media channels. 

 
29. In line with the framework, local response arrangement were led by the 

LRFs. On 25 March 2020, County Durham and Darlington LRF 
declared a major incident in response to the pandemic, and formally 
stood-up its response arrangements, with a strategic coordination group 
led by the Deputy Chief Constable of Durham Constabulary. 

 
30. The council is a major LRF partner and has played a significant role at 

all levels of response – participating in the strategic coordinating groups 
(SCG) and tactical coordinating groups (TCG) and chairing and 
resourcing all of the multi-agency support cells established to manage 
the county’s response: 

 

 Community Support – developing and coordinating support 
mechanisms for vulnerable people and those shielding from 
COVID-19, including facilitating and supporting volunteering and 
local community action; 

Page 4



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Excess Deaths – working with GPs, hospitals, mortuaries, 
registrars, crematoria, funeral directors, town and parish councils 
and faith groups, to manage the increased number of deaths 
while supporting the bereaved; 

 

 Intelligence and Data – collecting, processing, analysing and 
interpreting local, regional and national data to inform LRF (and 
council) planning and decision-making; 

 

 Media – developing and coordinating the communication of 
consistent messages and public information across LRF agencies 
as well as monitoring broadcast, print and social media and 
responding to media enquiries; 

 

 Multi-agency Information – providing a one-stop-shop for 
agency information, producing daily situation reports, threat 
assessments and feedback reports for and on behalf of the SCG; 

 

 PPE – establishing a distribution hub for emergency supplies of 
PPE, receiving government PPE drops, securing our own more 
reliable supply lines of PPE and processing and responding to 
requests for PPE from the social care sector and organisations in 
difficulty; 

 

 Recovery – planning for recovery and restoration, undertaking 
impact assessments and coordinating multi-agency programmes 
to support individual, communities and businesses. 

 
31. In doing so, we have worked very closely with our LRF local authority partner, 

Durham County Council. 
 
32. The council has worked with partners nationally and regionally to respond to the 

pandemic.  When the emerging threat was recognised COVID-19 Reponse 
Planning arrangements were established, staff communications put in place and 
briefings reported to Members. Throughout February 2020 advice from PHE was 
communicated to schools, local communities and businesses. 

 
33. Chief Officers established governance arrangements meeting daily as a COVID-19 

Response Executive to monitor the spread and impact of the pandemic, receive 
regular reports from service areas and review emerging national guidance. 

 
34. Cabinet members and the leaders of the council’s political groups have continued 

to meet to be briefed on key issues.  In addition, regular email briefings have been 
provided to all elected Members. 

 
35. The council’s Public Health team led the initial planning and response to 

the outbreak, liaising with NHSE and PHE on the regional command 
and infection control arrangements, in line with the North East Influenza 
Pandemic Framework. 

 

Page 5



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

36. The team has been proactive in assessing government guidance on the virus, 
providing public health advice in relation to the guidance to council services and 
partner organisations. 

 
37. Through our collaborative approach to public health, County Durham and 

Darlington Councils have in place a dedicated, public-health commissioned 
community infection prevention and control team, which has been at forefront of our 
efforts to contain and mitigate the pandemic, not exclusively but largely supporting 
care homes. 

 
38. On the 20 March 2020 each Local Authority was instructed to establish a ‘Hub’ to 

support those at risk in the area who had no access to a support network.  The 
Darlington Community Support Hub became operational on 24 March 2020 
including a Help Line offering a seven-day service. (Note: At the time of writing this 
report a full report on the Darlington Community Support Hub is in development.) 

 
39. COVID-19 presents a challenge for social care.  The council built on its local 

knowledge of the sector when developing a mandated “COVID-19 Local Care 
Home Support Plan”.  This is published on the Council website. 

 
40. The government has worked to provide LRFs with emergency PPE drops to 

address local shortages. Issues with PPE supply and distribution have 
caused the council to work with other local authorities in the region to secure more 
reliable supply and in some instances, prioritise its own PPE use in order to direct 
supplies to support frontline social care services. 

 
41. Local Authority commissioned public health services including – stop smoking, 

sexual health, 0-19 years and substance misuse services have maintained service 
delivery. 

 
42. The Education service has been proactive in providing advice and 

guidance to schools and parents through all stages of the pandemic. Schools 
received relevant public health advice during the initial weeks of the pandemic 
before the national decision to close schools for the majority of pupils. They 
continue to be supported as they plan for future delivery. 

 
Testing 
 
43. A key element of the national response has been the introduction of testing to 

monitor and enable containment of the spread of the virus and to develop 
intelligence which can support the development of treatments and vaccines. 

 
44. The Director of Public Health has worked with regional colleagues from 

NHSE, Public Health England and local NHS foundation trusts to develop and 
coordinate local testing programmes for NHS workers, social care staff and key 
workers from LRF responding organisations including the council.  

 
45. As part of this, through our Occupational Health service, COVID-19 testing is 

available for all council employees who have coronavirus symptoms, with tests and 
results provided quickly through local hospitals. 

 
46. Since the end of April 2020, the council has worked with the LRF on the use of 

Mobile Testing Units (MTUs) under the National Testing Programme. 

Page 6



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

NHS Test and Trace Service 
 
47. The NHS Test and Trace Service was introduced on 28 May 2020.  The purpose is 

to trace the spread of the virus, isolate new infections and interrupt the further 
spread of COVID-19. 
 
In order to do this the Test and Trace service will: 
 

 Ensure people who develop symptoms of COVID-19 can be quickly tested to 
find out if they are infected. 

 Trace contacts of people who test positive for coronavirus and, if necessary, 
advise them to self-isolate. 

 
48. Contact is expected to be the responsibility of Public Health of England, North East 

Health Protection Team while the Council is responsible for the management of the 
impact of cases or contacts in a range of settings. 
 

Local Outbreak Control Plan 
 
49. The DHSC requires every Upper Tier Local Authority to develop a Local Outbreak 

Control Plan (LOCP) by the end of June 2020. 
 
The plan will centre on 7 themes: 
 

 Care homes and schools. 

 High risk places, locations and communities. 

 Local testing capacity. 

 Contact tracing in complex settings. 

 Data integration. 

 Vulnerable people. 

 Local Boards including a new member-led Board to communicate with the 
general public.   

 
The government has allocated additional resources to councils to support Test and 
Trace and the implementation of plans. 

 
Recovery 
 
50. The council has established recovery related planning groups for adaptation to a 

society post COVID-19. A recovery workstream was incorporated into the LRF 
Recovery Cell to co-ordinate recovery planning across the LRF area. 

 
51. Working with colleagues from Durham County Council, the LRF Recovery Cell 

established a number of sub-groups: 
 

 Business and economy. 

 Buildings, infrastructure and environment. 

 Health, welfare and communities. 

 Local authority services. 
 
52. The council focus is on restoring services and supporting the community in 

recovery. With partners the council is reviewing plans to prevent or mitigate 

Page 7



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

secondary outbreaks of COVID-19. Work is underway to understand the impact of 
COVID-19 locally and will inform council planning for the future. 
 

Housing Services 
 
Housing Income 
 
53. Despite the financial challenges the lockdown has brought, tenants have continued 

to be fully supported to pay their rent and sustain tenancies.  Rent arrears in May 
were 3.3% of the annual debit which is an increase from the year-end figure of 
2.8% but the increase is lower than other social housing providers nationally. Since 
April over £3.7 million has been collected towards rent and arrears with weekly 
collection rates over 94%.  Numbers of Universal Credit claims have significantly 
increased as of this time last year by 66.5%, with over 1285 council tenants 
claiming Universal Credit.  The team continue to provide specialist support to those 
people who have lost employment and claimed Universal Credit.  This support and 
guidance continues to help ensure that residents are supported in maintaining 
payment plans and maintaining tenancies.   
 

Customer Services 
 

54. During the lockdown period, over 6570 vulnerable customers have been contacted 
by Housing and Lifeline staff where residents were offered help and assistance as 
appropriate.  This proactive work has helped to reduce the immediate effects and 
allayed some of the concerns of these residents and prompted more than 300 
referrals being made to Darlington Community Support Hub for emergency food, 
medication and advice and to Darlington Support for help with shopping, 
befriending and dog walking.  Housing staff are involved within the Darlington 
Community Support Hub where they were able to answer emergency calls on a 
wide variety of topics to assist residents during these exceptional times. 
 

Housing Options/Homelessness 
 
55. This has been a very demanding time for our Housing Options team with a 

significant increase in the  number of presentations for homelessness, rough 
sleeping or at risk of being homeless. This situation has been reflected across the 
country 
 

56. To meet this increased demand, additional temporary accommodation has been 
sourced through procuring hotel accommodation and ensuring our Tenancy 
Management Team increase the number of temporary Council accommodation 
units.  The work done by this team has been guided by the information from the 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government ensuring that all 
vulnerable homeless applicants were placed in accommodation regardless of their 
need and status.   
 

57. To ensure that all applicants could self-isolate additional items were purchased 
such as fridges and microwaves for their rooms in the hotel as well as furniture 
packages and carpets for the temporary accommodation.  Each presentation has 
been assessed by a Housing Options Officer and they have all been given a 
personalised housing plan which will support them with in their longer-term housing 
solutions.   
 

Page 8



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

58. Over the period of April and May 2020 Housing Options have worked with over 300 
clients who have approached us for support around their homeless situation. We 
currently have 57 households placed in temporary accommodation.  The additional 
presentations represent some of the hidden homeless and sofa surfers and will 
ensure we take this opportunity to further work, engage and support them. 
 

Allocations Team  
 
59. The housing waiting list has been maintained over this period and at present have 

1665 active housing applications.  The team have continued to work from home 
and in April and May have ensured that 242 applications were checked and 
activated.  Appointments have been carried out over the phone and they will 
continue to do this as we look at the Council’s overall recovery plan and future 
demands on the service. 
 

New Build 
 

60. Two stalled construction sites at Fenby Avenue and Allington Way 3, providing 70 
much needed new homes are to be recommenced.  Neasham Road, East Haven 
and Skinnergate are continuing to be progressed through the planning application 
process, providing potentially an additional 206 dwellings.  One scheme at Harris 
Street has been withdrawn due to concerns about loss of green space.  Other 
potential sites have been identified and will come forward in due course. 
 

Lifeline Team 
 
61. The Lifeline Officers have ensured that all essential services have been delivered 

over this difficult period.  All our sheltered, extra care and good neighbour schemes 
have had a staff presence throughout 
 

62. Government guidance has been followed making key decisions around 
 
(a) Extra Care – closing of the dining area and delivering meals to tenant’s flats  
(b) Closing of communal areas to discourage gatherings 
(c) Encourage and support each tenant to self-isolate within their own flats 
(d) Correct use and guidance of PPE, ensuring the safety of staff 
(e) Use of vehicles – one person per vehicle 
(f) Correspondence and verbal updates have been given to our tenants 

throughout to ensure we have met the guidelines and that these are 
understood by all 

 
63. To ensure our tenants were not socially isolated we delivered a few virtual activities 

within the schemes to look after their mental health and wellbeing.  This has 
included bingo, quizzes, virtual coffee mornings, and a wide range of celebratory 
activities on VE Day.  
 

64. Throughout April and May the Lifeline team have carried out, 
 
(a) 7550 welfare calls by telephone 
(b) 171 physical welfare checks 
(c) 1335 call outs where a person has activated the emergency call  
(d) 1849 lifts for clients who have fallen  

Page 9



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(e) Facilitated 26 hospital discharges by installing essential equipment. 
 

Repairs and Maintenance for Council Tenants 
 
65. Whilst we were required to put all our routine and general repairs on hold during the 

lockdown period 642 urgent and emergency repairs were completed for Council 
tenants.  Overall, we saw a 33.5% increase in these types of repair with the biggest 
increase relating to blocked drains. Some routine repairs also became more urgent 
as time went on.  From 18th May 2020 routine repairs recommenced in accordance 
with government guidelines, starting with clearing the backlog before accepting new 
repair requests from early June 2020.  Essential gas servicing and other regular 
safety checks have continued during this time with appropriate measures in place 
to ensure staff and tenants have been kept safe throughout this process. 
 

Neighbour Nuisance 
 
66. Whilst reports of neighbour nuisance and ASB have remained similar to previous 

years, there has been an additional 18 Covid related breaches which have been 
dealt with in partnership with Darlington Police.  These were mainly large 
gatherings inside Council tenanted properties and the surrounding areas.  There 
has also been an increase in those who are suffering with mental health issues 
during the lockdown period and those individuals have received appropriate advice 
support and signposting.  
 

Dolphin Centre and Eastbourne Sports Complex 
 
67. The Dolphin Centre and Eastbourne Sports Complex were closed to public on 

Tuesday 17 March 2020 when the country went into lockdown.  The Leisure teams 
have been redeployed to various essential roles including Darlington’s Community 
Hub.  The team have supported a number of functions within the Hub including the 
call centre, control room, outreach driving and deliveries and food packing, all of 
which have been essential to facilitate this emergency service for residents 
shielding.  In addition, the team have also supported Lifeline services, CCTV, the 
Food Bank and more recently Street Scene. 
 

68. Eastbourne pre-school, which is based at the Sports Complex reopened on 20 April 
2020 for vulnerable children and children of key workers. 
 

69. The Dolphin Centre is currently open for town centre toilet use and Eastbourne 
Sports Complex opened from Tuesday 9 June 2020 for limited track usage.  
A staggered programme of outdoor activity has been introduced in a phased 
approach to re-engage athletes and footballers onto the site, which has been 
welcomed by Eastbourne clubs and customers.  
 

70. A new shop front canopy was installed at 16 Horsemarket to provide alternative 
pavement café options and to highlight the presence of 16 in the market square 
when reopened.  A takeaway service has been available since 15 June 2020 and 
has included new features such as a range of homemade waffles and afternoon 
tea, which have been popular.  Following the government announcement that 
cafes, bars and restaurants can open, both the Bistro and pavement café 
welcomed public back on Monday 6 July 2020 celebrating a new menu.  The menu 
includes our “Chefs promise” a commitment to healthy options.  We will: 
 

Page 10



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) provide SMART SWAP options where possible. 
(b) use lower fat spreads and lower sugar preserves. 
(c) use leaner cuts of meat and trim visible fat on meat where possible. 
(d) work with suppliers to source menu items that are lower in saturated fat. 
(e) use light mayonnaise and light coleslaw. • wherever possible use healthier 

cooking techniques such as grilling, poaching and oven-baking. 
(f) use herbs and spices to flavour rather than piling on the salt. 
(g) use olive oil rather than butter in cooking. 
(h) support customers and families by carefully designing meal options that 

contain contributions to their 5-a-day. 
(i) provide healthy options full of flavour. 

 
71. Although gyms have remained closed, the team have been working hard to keep in 

contact with customers and members.  The Dolphin Centre app has been updated 
with ongoing advice on exercise that can be done from home to keep people active 
during lockdown.  There has also been a series a workout videos posted on social 
media delivered by gym team members called Workout Wednesdays.  There will 
soon be the opportunity for customers and Members to book onto home coaching 
or small digital classes delivered by the team via Microsoft Teams which will form 
part of our long-term digital offer. 
 

72. Pools remain closed and are following strict guidance from the Pool Water 
Treatment Advisory Group (PWTAG).  Various methods of testing have been 
completed including die testing to check flows and water circulation, and pool 
temperatures have been reduced throughout.  Water safety messages will continue 
to be regular in the lead up to the summer holidays and in preparation for further 
easing of lockdown. 
 

73. Connect Health who deliver the muscular skeletal contract on behalf of the NHS 
have agreed Heads of Terms during this period to become a tenant in the vacant 
registrar’s area at the Dolphin Centre from November 2020.   
 

School Meals and Community Catering Service 
 
74. The school meals and community catering service has continued during this period 

with care homes receiving a varied menu, which has included themed days such as 
afternoon tea to animate the experience.  School meals have been greatly reduced 
but have continued to support schools in accommodating vulnerable children 
attending school and children of key workers.   
 

Recommendations 
 
75. Scrutiny Committee is recommended to note the contents of the report. 

 
 

Suzanne Joyner 
Director of Children and Adults Services 

Ian Williams 
Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

 

 

 
Background Papers 

Page 11



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
None 
 
Miriam Davidson 
Director of Public Health: Darlington. 
Pauline Mitchell 
Assistant Director Housing and Building Services 
Ian Thompson 
Assistant Director Community Services 
      
 

S17 Crime and Disorder N/A 

Health and Well Being Major impact on wellbeing of residents. 

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change 

Impact to be determined in the future. 

Diversity N/A 

Wards Affected All wards affected. 

Groups Affected All groups affected. 

Budget and Policy Framework  N/A 

Key Decision N/A 

Urgent Decision N/A 

One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed 

Impact on communities to be determined in the 
future. 

Efficiency N/A 

Impact on Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After 
Children or Care Leavers 

 

Page 12



 

1  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
June 2020  

“Local authorities will develop, maintain and implement their own local outbreak control 
plans to contain outbreaks in the community”. 
(Department of Health and Social Care) 

Pictures supplied by Peter Giroux 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3(a)



 

2  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Contents Page 
Purpose of this plan 3 
Principles of health protection 5 
NHS Test and Trace 6 
Data 7 
Information Governance 13 
Governance Framework 

• Health Protection Board 
• Health and Wellbeing Board (Local Outbreak Engagement) 
• Outbreak Response Group 
• Local Resilience Forum 
• Regional Oversight Group 

13 
13 
13 
14 
14 
14 

Local Outbreak Control Plan – Seven Themes 15 
Outbreak Control: Public Health England Health Protection Team 17 
Risk Management 18 
Communication 19 
Test and Trace Support Grant 20 
Conclusion 20 
Appendix 1 

• Health Protection Board 
• Term of Reference 

 
22 
22 

Appendix 2 
Joint Management of confirmed COVID-19 outbreaks  
(with additional draft Appendix 1) 

 
24 
28 

Appendix 3  
• Outbreak Response Group 
• Term of Reference 

 
32 
32 

Appendix 4 
Local, Regional, National Roles 

 
34 

Appendix 5 
NHS Test and Trace: how it works 

 
35 

Appendix 6 
Health Protection Legal and Policy context 

 
37 

Appendix 7 
Update on Whole Care Home Testing 

 
40 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Version 1.0 Date approved 29 June 2020 
Approved by Paul Wildsmith: Managing Director 
  

Page 14



 

3  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Introduction 

On the 11 March 2020 the World Health Organisation declared the COVID-19 outbreak 
as a pandemic indicating the new disease was spreading globally.  While the outbreak 
initially occurred in China, it spread rapidly.  By mid-March 2020 Europe became the 
epicentre for the disease.  In England the tripartite partnership of Department of Health 
and Social Care, Public Health England (PHE) and NHS England provided direction for 
the health and social care response with Department for Education (DfE) leading on the 
children’s social care response. 

In the initial stages of the outbreak the NHS and PHE were proactive in contacting 
people, testing and managing the cases.  Darlington Borough Council works closely 
with these agencies already, building on longstanding relationships. 

The Council has worked at a local, regional and national level responding quickly to 
make sure the necessary guidance, information and advice was shared widely. 

The NHS Test and Trace Service was introduced on 28 May 2020 in order to trace the 
spread of the virus, isolate new infections and stop further spread of COVID-19.  
Darlington residents have co-operated with the national guidance and contributed to 
protecting their communities. 

The Council focus is on restoring services and supporting the community in recovery.  
The Darlington Local Outbreak Control Plan is an essential part of our journey. 

 

Purpose 

1. The Local Outbreak Control Plan (LOCP) describes how Darlington Borough 
Council will work with partners to prevent and control COVID-19, at a population 
level, in complex settings, with communities of interest and through the Test and 
Trace service where there are complex local outbreaks of COVID-19.  The plan 
builds on existing relationships across Council and partnership planning and 
response to COVID-19. 

 
2. The plan sets out the role of partners in preventing and controlling COVID-19 with a 

focus on robust management of clusters and outbreaks.  The plan describes how, 
as national lockdown measures are eased, local surveillance aims to prevent and 
reduce the spread of COVID-19 within Darlington. 

 
3. The aim of the plan is to reduce transmission of COVID-19 in Darlington and 

ensure provision of an effective and timely response to cases in complex settings. 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 15



 

4  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PRINCIPLES UNDERPINNING THE PREVENTION AND MANAGEMENT OF THE  
TRANSMISSION OF COVID-19 

 

4. Public Health leadership: this plan is based upon a public health approach, which 
includes: 

 
• Surveillance:  so that action is informed by an understanding of the needs of 

the people of Darlington. 
 

• Evidence: actions should be based on the evidence of what works. 
 

• Policy and strategy development. 
 

• Collaborative working for health and wellbeing:  The expertise and 
capacity of the whole local public health system – including the Council’s 
Public Health team, other colleagues across the Council and Public Health 
England regional health protection functions – are central to the design and 
implementation of the plan, and this plan is tied into existing roles, 
responsibilities and governance structures, particularly the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

 
5. A whole system approach:  the capabilities of the whole system need to be 

mobilised in preventing and managing outbreaks.  Each agency should be clear on 
its role and responsibilities.  The voluntary sector, the NHS and many other bodies 
all need to work together as no single organisation has the resources or expertise 
to make the plan work.  Strong public engagement is also crucial to building 
confidence and trust and maintaining compliance with public health.  Councillors 
have an essential role here. 

 
6. An efficient system:  there needs to be clear communication and timely access to 

– and sharing of – information, data and intelligence amongst local agencies and 
between local, regional and national systems to inform action, monitor outcomes 
and deliver clear arrangements for rapid and proactive management of outbreaks. 

 
7. A properly resourced response:  each agency will have the necessary capability, 

both financial and in respect of skills and expertise, to carry out their 
responsibilities.  We have been allocated £778,834 from Government to support 
implementation of this plan. 

  

Page 16



 

5  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PRINCIPLES OF HEALTH PROTECTION AND TEST AND TRACE SYSTEM 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

6  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

P
age 18



 

7  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8. The national approach to contact tracing was set out in announcements on 27 
May (public information on the process can be found at: 
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works.  
 

9. The normal contact tracing approach used in other outbreaks is being scaled up 
and will be the responsibility of NHS Test and Trace which will operate at 3 
levels:- 
 
(a) Tier 3:  A newly recruited staff group (approximately 15000 nationally) of 

contact tracing call handlers based within a national call handling system 
providing phone-based contact tracing. 
 

(b) Tier 2:  A group (approximately 3000 nationally) of trained contact tracing 
specialists providing phone-based contact tracing to be recruited through a 
national recruitment approach.  These staff include returning NHS 
professionals. 
 

(c) Tier 1b:  A regional offer providing contact tracing and outbreak control 
support in relation to complex settings, cohorts and individuals/households.  
This will be through the established Public Health England Regional Health 
Protection Teams, including the team based in Newcastle. 
 

(d) Tier 1a:  A national co-ordinating function to lead on policy, data science, 
and quality assurance of the service. 

 

Test and Trace Data 

 
10. Timely access to robust and effective data and intelligence is crucial to effective 

outbreak management.  Locally we need to be able to predict and intervene in 
outbreaks. 

 
11. There are several different data sources (and agencies) that produce statistics 

on testing.  Some are collated centrally by the Department of Health and Social 
Care. 

 

Examples of Incoming Testing Data 

 

 

Public Health England Pillar 1 
Public Health England Exceedance Report 
Public Health England Contact Tracing Report 
NHS Digital Testing Dashboard 
Public Health England Care Home Outbreaks 
Public Health England COVID-19 Report 

Page 19

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works


 

8  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

12. COVID-19 tests are carried out via a number of routes: 
 

(a) Pillar 1:  Swab testing in Public Health England laboratories and NHS 
hospitals for those with a clinical need, and health and care workers.  Pillar 
1 data for England is provided by the NHS and Public Health England. 

 
(b) Pillar 2:  Swab testing for the wider population, as set out in government 

guidance.  Pillar 2 data is collected by commercial partners. 
 

13. At the time of writing although improving, flows of clinical and testing data are 
not yet robust enough for the Health Protection Board to be confident of 
recognising and responding quickly to outbreaks. 

 

 
DARLINGTON 

 
 

Cumulative Total 
 
 

410 
CASES 

Daily Total 
 
 

+ 1 
CASE 

    
    
    

Rate per 100,000 Rank of Rate 
 

384 
CASES 

 
 

 26TH  
HIGHEST OF 

150 Upper 
Tier LAs 

    
    

COUNTY DURHAM & DARLINGTON NHS FT 
 

Cumulative Total 
 

247 
DEATHS IN  
HOSPITAL 

 

Daily Total 
 

+0 
DEATHS IN 
HOSPITAL 

 

Reference: COVID-19 Tees Tracker, as of 23/6/2020 

 
  

Page 20



 

9  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

COVID-19 Mortality in Darlington  
14. Mortality (or deaths) and particularly excess mortality are important measures of 

the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Excess deaths are the additional deaths 
in a given time period compared to the number usually expected.  Not all excess 
deaths will be directly due to COVID-19; some may be caused indirectly through 
pressure on the health system or by people not accessing health care when they 
need it.  

 
15. The Office for National Statistics publishes provisional weekly and monthly 

mortality data.   
 

16. A total of 616 deaths occurred in Darlington up to 12 June 2020 (weeks 2 to 24 
inclusive).  Coronavirus (COVID-19) was mentioned on the death certificate in 
84 (13.6%) of these deaths.   

 
17. Excess deaths occurred in Darlington in weeks ending 3 April to 5 June (weeks 

14 to 23) inclusive. Excess deaths are those above the weekly average, shown 
by the green line in the figure below.  COVID-19 was mentioned on the death 
certificate in 76% (82/108) of the excess deaths that occurred in weeks 14 to 23.  

 

Figure:  Week 24 Darlington, death occurrences 

Excess deaths (2020 deaths minus 2014 to 2018 average) up to 12 June 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 21



 

10  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

18. The Health Protection Board needs local information at a level where it can take 
preventative measures as well as responding to outbreaks. The Board requires 
the following data:- 
 
(a) Data to prevent and manage outbreaks 
(b) Data to inform local testing capacity 
(c) Data to support vulnerable people 
(d) Data to understand effectiveness of contact tracing 

 
19. Other data, non-clinical information will be used to increase understanding of the 

local situation. Partner organisations are asked to share information or concerns 
to keep the Health Protection Board with decision making. Non-clinical data may 
include:- 

 
(a) Information from Ward Councillors 
(b) Information from social media 
(c) Press and media coverage 
(d) Information from council services and the community sector 

 
20. The Information Governance Access to personally identifiable clinical and non-

clinical data is restricted to Public Health and other council professionals for the 
sole purpose of implementing COVID-19 control arrangements outlined in this 
plan. Identifiable information will be subject to strict data sharing agreements to 
ensure protection of individual data and appropriate legal use for purposes of 
infection control.  

 

COVID-19 Mortality at a Local Level 

21. The ONS has published COVID-19 mortality at Middle Layer Super Output Area 
(MSOA) for the period 1 March to 31 May 2020.  Super Output Areas are a small 
area statistical geography covering England and Wales. Each area has a 
similarly sized population and remains stable over time.  
 

22. The map and table show the number of deaths involving COVID-19 in each 
MSOA in Darlington. 
 

23. The number of deaths in each MSOA will be affected by the characteristics of 
the local area, including the level of disadvantage, proportion of older residents 
and the presence of care homes.   

  

Page 22



 

11  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Darlington COVID-19 Deaths by Middle Layer Super Output Area 

MSOA 
code 

ONS 
geography 

MSOA name 
House of Commons 

Library MSOA Names March April May 
3 month - 
March to 

May  
2020 

E02002562 Darlington 004 Rise Carr 0 2 11 13 

E02002563 Darlington 005 Haughton Le Skerne 0 8 2 10 

E02002569 Darlington 011 Hummersknott 1 6 2 9 

E02002564 Darlington 006 Cockerton & Hopetown 1 4 2 7 

E02002567 Darlington 009 Albert Hill & Red Hall 0 6 1 7 

E02002570 Darlington 012 Bank Top 0 6 1 7 

E02002568 Darlington 010 College & Park West 1 3 2 6 

E02002561 Darlington 003 Whinfield 0 1 4 5 

E02002571 Darlington 013 Firthmoor 0 3 1 4 

E02002566 Darlington 008 Central Darlington 0 2 1 3 

E02002559 Darlington 001 Faverdale, Heighington & 
Sadberge 0 2 0 2 

E02002565 Darlington 007 Pierremont 0 2 0 2 

E02002572 Darlington 014 Park East 0 1 1 2 

E02002573 Darlington 015 Middleton & Hurworth 0 0 2 2 

E02002560 Darlington 002 Harrowgate Hill 1 0 0 1 

  Total 4 46 30 80 

 

 

Number of deaths involving COVID-19 in Middle Layer Super Output Areas in 
Darlington, deaths occurring between 1 March and 31 May 2020 

Page 23



 

12  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics  

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/d
eaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringb
etween1marchand31may2020#local-authorities  

  

Page 24

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand31may2020#local-authorities
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand31may2020#local-authorities
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand31may2020#local-authorities


 

13  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Governance Framework 

Health Protection Board 

24. We are required to put in place a Health Protection Board as part of the outbreak 
governance. The Health Protection Board will take management responsibility 
for the Local Outbreak Control Plan.  The purpose of the Health Protection 
Board is to lead, co-ordinate and manage work to prevent the spread of COVID-
19.  The Health Protection Board will use Public Health England North East 
Outbreak Control guidance and the Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) for 
outbreaks, developed by Public Health England in collaboration with local 
authorities. 

 
25. On a day to day basis the Public Health team will identify actions that may be 

require, consider the range of information that has been gathered and task the 
Outbreak Response Group. A strong working arrangement exists between the 
Director of Public Health, Public Health England Health Protection Team and 
other Council Chief Officers.  

 
26. The Health Protection Board will be accountable to the Darlington Health and 

Wellbeing Board.  The Health and Wellbeing Board has an inclusive 
membership of statutory partners, as well as representatives from NHS, 
Education, Community, and Police Crime Commissioner.  The Chair is the 
Cabinet Portfolio Lead for Health and Housing. The Health Wellbeing Board will 
also act as the Engagement Board.  

 
27. The Health Protection Board is an officer group, chaired by the Director of Public 

Health. Officers with an input to the Board include Public Health, Education, 
Environmental Health, Communications, Commissioning, Emergency Planning, 
Housing, Community Services, Strategy and Performance and the Darlington 
Partnership. Key strategic stakeholders will have input to the Board including 
NHS, Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Foundation Trusts and 
Healthwatch.  

 

Health and Wellbeing Board: Local Outbreak Engagement function 

28. The Health Protection Board will report formally to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. The Health and Wellbeing Board will be the Member-led board, engaging 
with residents, providing leadership on communication and engagement with 
communities in Darlington. 

 
29. The Darlington Health and Wellbeing Board has an inclusive membership of 

statutory partners with additional representation from wider NHS, Education 
sector, Community and Voluntary Sector and office of the Police Crime 
Commissioner. The Cabinet leads for Children and Young People and Adults 
are Board members along with representation from other political parties. The 
Board is chaired by the Cabinet lead for Health and Housing. 

Page 25



 

14  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Outbreak Response Group 

(See Appendix 3 for Terms of Reference of the  
Darlington Outbreak Response Group.) 

 
30. In the event that HPT alerts Darlington Borough Council SPOC that there is a 

need for local support for outbreak management, the Director of Public Health or 
Public Health Principal will activate the Darlington Outbreak Response Group.  
The Council will work closely with HPT (PHE) if an Outbreak Control Team 
meeting is required. 

 
31. The Outbreak Response Group (ORG) will implement the operational response 

for Darlington.  Arrangements have been agreed between Public Health England 
and the Local Authority via a Standard Operating Procedure (SOP), (draft).  See 
Appendix 2 for the draft Standard Operating Procedure. 

 
32. The membership of the local ORG will depend on the setting or group of people 

affected.  The meeting will operate to a standard agenda, but the leads will vary 
based on the setting or group.  An ORG meeting may focus on a care home 
outbreak, workplace, education setting or vulnerable community setting.  
Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) are being developed for each setting or 
community (in process of being developed). 

 

Local Resilience Forum 

33. In line with government guidance on developing Local Outbreak Control Plans a 
relationship must be clear with the Local Resilience Forum (LRF). County 
Durham and Darlington LRF established a Strategic Command Group (SCG) 
with supporting cells and groups in response to COVID-19. Darlington senior 
officers have been members of the LRF SCG and supporting groups.  

34. On standing down the SCG a Strategic Recovery Group (SRG) has been 
established. Close liaison with the LRF will provide oversight of local outbreak 
management.  

 

Regional Oversight Group 

35. A Regional Liaison or Oversight Group has been established which acts as a 
link between the Local Authority and the Joint Biosecurity Centre. The role of the 
ROG will be to support the arrangements in each Local Authority by providing a 
regional overview on new infections of COVID-19 across the region, share good 
practice, peer review and sector-led improvement.  

 

  

Page 26



 

15  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Local Outbreak Control Plan – Seven Themes 

36. Local Outbreak Control Plans will cover seven themes and while the details of 
requirements are not fully known currently, there are consistent areas for 
consideration. 

Care Homes and Schools 

37. There are 32 registered Care Homes across the Borough.  This includes homes 
for older people, people with physical sensory impairments, learning disabilities 
and mental ill health. 

 
38. Planning for outbreaks in care homes, requires definition of monitoring 

arrangements, development of potential scenarios in Darlington and planning 
the required response by developing a Standard Operating Procedure (SOP). 
(Note: In draft at 24/06/2020). 

 
39. There are 27 primary schools, 7 secondary schools, 1 secondary school with 

sixth form provision, 2 colleges, 2 “free schools”, and a university satellite site in 
Darlington.  Local working arrangements with schools and early years settings 
are well established.  Planning for outbreaks in education settings involves the 
same processes i.e. monitoring arrangements, scenario development and SOP 
procedures. 

 
40. The council has in place a Care Home Support Plan, developed with the care 

home sector and local NHS partners. 

 
High risk places, locations and communities 

 
41. We will identify and plan how to manage high-risk places, locations and 

communities of interest in Darlington.  This includes workplaces where activity 
will increase as lockdown eases.  Liaison with voluntary and community 
organisations is crucial to defining monitoring arrangements and planning 
required response. 

 
Workplaces 

 
42. As restrictions are eased, more workplaces will be re-opening.  Government 

guidance exists to assist employers in making reasonable adjustments to their 
working arrangements to help employees and other people on their premises to 
keep safe.  It is important to have the ability to see the early signs or indicators 
of an outbreak e.g. absenteeism in the workplace, as part of understanding the 
local situation. 

  

Page 27



 

16  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Local Testing Capacity 
 

43. The Darlington outbreak control arrangements draw upon the two pillars of the 
national testing framework, (see paragraphs 10 and 11). 

 
44. We will identify methods of local testing to provide a swift response that is 

accessible to the whole population.  Define how to prioritise and manage 
deployment of Mobile Testing Units (MTU’s).  Consider delivering tests to 
isolated individuals, (draw upon Community Hub model). A 24/7 DHSC Ops Line 
is in place to mobilise MTUs to support Outbreak Management.  

 
Contact Tracing in Complex Settings  
 

45. Assess local and regional contact tracing capability in complex settings.  Identify 
specific local complex communities, develop assumptions to estimate demand 
and options to scale capacity.  Contact tracing now, and for foreseeable future is 
led by Health Protection Team at PHE however the ongoing management and 
follow up is a joint responsibility for complex cases. 

 
46. A Darlington Borough Council Single Point of Contact (SPOC), 0800 hrs – 2000 

hrs 7 days/week is required to work with the Health Protection Team and 
respond to urgent queries. The structures in the plan will manage outbreaks 
short of those needing an LRF Gold Command Response. 
 
Data Integration 
 

47. The local authority will need to integrate information from all sources to do the 
following: 

 
(a) Contact tracing information from Health Protection Team. 
(b) Infection mapping and surveillance. 
(c) Epidemiological analysis to inform outbreak management. 
(d) Monitor effectiveness and impact. 

 
48. There are data which need to be assessed and brought together coherently.  We 

will develop scenario planning through the Joint Biosecurity Centre Playbook, 
(data management planning, including data security and data requirements 
including NHS linkages.)  Information sharing agreement to be developed and 
agreed with PHEG. 

 
  

Page 28



 

17  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Vulnerable People 

 
49. Outbreak control and management may be more complex in certain settings and 

communities.  The complexities can be because of vulnerabilities or 
circumstances of different groups or settings including: 

 
(a) Potentially complex settings, including schools, care homes, residential 

children’s homes, sheltered and supported housing or houses of multiple 
occupation. 

(b) Potentially complex cohorts e.g. rough sleepers. 
(c) Potentially vulnerable individuals and households (including clinically 

shielded, learning disability, mental illness, domestic abuse victims and 
those in complex social-economic circumstances. 

 
50. Communication needs to operate in ways that build, maintain or restore trust 

between the public and appropriate organisations. 

 
Outbreak Control and Management: Health Protection Team 

 
51. Outbreak control and management is the approach to identifying where there is 

a clustering of cases of disease and then putting in place control measures to 
reduce its spread. 

 
52. The Health Protection Team (HPT) in Public Health England (PHE) will be 

informed of cases associated with complex situations or settings via Tier 2 of the 
NHS Test and Trace service.  The following criteria are examples:- 
 
(a) Their clinical condition. 
(b) The vulnerability of their setting e.g. care home, hostel, schools etc. 
(c) Identification of factors which enhance the complexity e.g. disruption to local 

services, inability to comply with advice etc. 

 
53. The HPT will assess risks, arrange testing, provide health protection and 

infection control advice and have responsibility for management of the outbreak. 

 
54. The HPT will alert a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) in Darlington Borough 

Council if there is a need for the local system to follow up to provide additional 
support to either an individual or affected setting. 

 
55. HPT will send information to the Darlington Borough Council SPOC via email to 

the Public Health in-box which will be checked twice a day Monday – Friday and 
an out of hours contact Saturday/Sunday with the Director of Public Health or 
their nominee. 

Page 29



 

18  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
56. An outbreak may be considered closed if no new cases occur within 28 days of 

the onset of the most recent case. In all cases, judgement will be used to decide 
the scale and category of response.  
 

Risk Management 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
57. Risk assessment is fundamental to the management of all outbreaks of 

communicable disease.  The purpose of the risk assessment is to collect and 
review information about the outbreak and the risk of further spread of COVID-
19 in order to plan and implement measures that will minimise the changes of 
further spread and protect the health of the community.  A risk assessment will 
be undertaken for all outbreaks of COVID-19 or for cases where there are 
complicating factors (e.g. a confirmed case in a workplace or school). 

 
58. Each risk assessment will take account of: 

 
59. Factors associated with the outbreak to understand the risk of transmission of 

COVID-19.  This will include an assessment of: 

 
(a) The environment including the proximity, duration and nature of contact 

between people. 
(b) Mitigating factors to reduce spread, including social distancing, hygiene 

measures and personal protective equipment. 
(c) Specific risk factors, including risks to people who are at particular risk of 

serious infection. 

 

Community Transmission of COVID-19 
 

60. The risk of further spread will depend on the current transmission of COVID-19 
in the local community.  This will include a review of surveillance data and 
intelligence about: 

 
(a) Current community transmission of COVID-19 at a regional and local 

authority level. 
(b) Transmission of COVID-19 within the specific setting. 

 
Risks Associated with Control Measures 

 
61. The risks or unintended consequences of any mitigation or control measures will 

be considered.  For example, the full or partial closure of a school may have 

Page 30



 

19  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

adverse effects on the emotional and educational wellbeing of students, and this 
would be considered within the risk assessment in order that actions are 
proportionate and reasonable. 

 
Risk Communication 
 
62. Communicating risk is an important aspect of the management of outbreaks or 

similar situations.  The outbreak control group will ensure that the risk to those in 
the particular setting and the wider community is communicated appropriately. 

 
Communication 
 
63. Communication is key throughout all the processes to manage outbreaks.  The 

Health Protection Board together with the Local Engagement Board will manage 
the appropriate dissemination of critical information across relevant 
organisations.  Communications must be in ways that build, maintain or restore 
trust with the public.   

 
64. Communication about local outbreak response will be shared with key 

stakeholders, the wider community and support broader public understanding by 
responding to media requests and planning proactive messages.  A Strategic 
Communication Plan to support a “contain” strategy is in development centrally.  
The Local Engagement Board is key in sharing consistent ‘contain’ messages. 

 
65. A communications protocol is to be developed to detail the steps to respond to 

an outbreak, identify stakeholders and develop clear messaging.  The protocol 
will detail response times for updates and incident recording. 

 
66. The communication protocol will include briefings for the Leader and Cabinet, 

Elected Members, and Chief Officers Executive and Chief Officers Board. 
 

67. The plan will be shared with the Community Safety Partnership a multi-agency 
board with a focus on community safety, community confidence and public 
protection. 

 

Local Authority COVID-19 Test and Trace Service Support Grant 
 

68. Local authorities in England are being provided with additional funding to 
support them develop and implement action plans to mitigate against and 
manage local outbreaks of COVID-19.  The grant for Darlington is £778,834.  
There are a number of key areas which require support: 

 
(a) Local capacity to provide Infection, Prevention and Control support in Public 

Health and Public Health Protection. 
(b) Surveillance i.e. data flows, identification, mapping and data management. 

Page 31



 

20  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) Communication and engagement including operational support at local, 
Tees Valley and regional level. 

(d) Provision of support in order to stop transmission of infection including a 
contingency to support complex contact tracing. 

 
69. The purpose of the grant, “Local Authority COVID-19 Test and Trace Service 

Support Grant Determination 2020/21: No 11/5075” is to provide support to local 
authorities in England towards expenditure lawfully incurred or in relation to the 
mitigation against and management of local outbreaks of COVID-19. 

 
Conclusion 
 
70. The timescales to develop the plan have been extremely tight, it has been 

necessary to develop the arrangements quickly to make sure the mechanism for 
prevention and control are in place. Views and feedback from all partners are 
welcome as the Local Outbreak Control Plan will be updated as required. It is a 
work in progress and needs to be responsive as new intelligence, guidance and 
evident emerges. 

 
71. The next steps to fully establish the arrangements outlined in the plan include: 

 
(a) Testing of Board arrangements, Health Protection Board and Local 

Engagement Board. 
(b) Operational Response Group to “stand up” and exercise Standard 

Operating Procedures (Public Health England in final stages of developing 
SOPs for joint management of outbreaks). 

(c) Develop full communication strategy protocol and plan.  Clear messaging is 
crucial to engagement and population safety. 

(d) Action cards (in development centrally) to be finalised and adopted for use 
by staff in complex or vulnerable settings. 

(e) Data sharing agreement to be signed off with Public Health England, 
COVID-19 Rapid Data Sharing Contract. 

 
72.  Achieving the Local Outbreak Control Plans aims needs support across all 

sectors and strong engagement with the public in order tot control COVID-19.  
 

73. The Local Outbreak Control Plan will be updated as required, recognising 
partners are working in a changing environment balancing a drive for prevention 
with the urgency of responding to an outbreak. 

 
  

Page 32



 

21  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 1 
 

DARLINGTON COVID-19 HEALTH PROTECTION BOARD 
 

Terms of Reference 
 
 
Purpose 
 
1. The Darlington COVID-19 Health Protection Board will take management 

responsibility for the Outbreak Control Plan and overall management of the local 
response. 

 
 
Key Objectives 
 
2. The key objectives of the Health Protection Board include: 

 
• Coordinating work to prevent the spread of COVID-19. 
• Liaising with PHE in line with Standard Operating Procedure (SOP). 
• Reviewing outbreaks of COVID-19 across Darlington and identify 

patterns/clusters/trajectories in the numbers of cases and any risks of 
sustained transmission i.e. epidemiology. 

• Support HPT in contingency contact tracing measures. 
• Managing outbreaks through the establishment of the Outbreak Response 

Group in timely manner. 
• Ensuring timely and appropriate support to those residents needing to self-

isolate, particularly those who are most vulnerable. 
• Developing a multi-agency Communications Plan. 
• Reporting to Council Members. 
• Providing reports to partners through Health and Wellbeing Board/ 

Outbreak Engagement Board 
• Maintaining and reviewing a Risk Register, escalating concerns or actions 

if necessary. 
• Acting as the conduit with the national and regional groups including 

oversight groups, Joint Biosecurity Centre, NHS Test and Trace Service. 

 
Membership 
 
3. The Darlington COVID-19 Health Protection Board is an officer group, chaired 

by the Director of Public Health with input from:  
 
Council  

 
Public Health, Education, Environmental Health, Communications, 
Commissioning, Emergency Planning, Housing, Community Services, 
Strategy and Performance and Darlington Partnership. 

Page 33



 

22  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
NHS Partners 

 
• Tees NHS Clinical Commissioning Group. 
• Primary Care Network. 
• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. 
• Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust. 
• Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
Healthwatch 
 
4. Members will agree to send a nominated representative if the named individual 

is unable to attend. 
 
5. The membership of the Board will be reviewed regularly (frequency to be 

agreed).  The Chair may co-opt members as required. 
 

Arrangements 
 
6. The Health Protection Board will meet fortnightly initially. 

 
7. The frequency and dates will be scheduled as necessary, agreed by group 

members with additional meetings arranged at the discretion of the Chair. 
 
8. The Health Protection Board Chair is the Director of Public Health supported by 

………… tbc, who will be Vice Chair.  Administrative support will be provided by 
Public Health. 

 
9. The Darlington Health Protection Board will report to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board which will fulfil the role of the Local Outbreak Engagement Board. 
 

10. The Health Protection Board will receive reports and updates from the Outbreak 
Response Group. 

 
11. A reporting relationship will be clear with County Durham and Darlington Local 

Resilience Forum.  Some outbreaks may require a multi-agency response at the 
strategic level i.e. a Strategic Co-ordinating Group (SCG) may be established to 
make sure wider collaboration and co-ordination is in place. 

 
  

Page 34



 

23  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Draft 
APPENDIX 2 

 
 

NE HEALTH PROTECTION TEAM AND NE DIRECTORS OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
JOINT MANAGEMENT OF CONFIRMED COVID-19 OUTBREAKS 

DRAFT 25 June 2020 

Aim  
 
The aim of this paper is to clarify roles and responsibilities for the management of 
confirmed COVID-19 outbreaks in the North east, recognising the specific role of the 
Directors of Public Health (DsPH) while seeking both to avoid duplication and to 
enhance local working. 

It establishes the way of working in this early stage of CONTAIN when community 
levels of COVID-19 in the North East are low.  It is important that any situation is 
managed competently at the lowest level of escalation. 

The setting-specific joint management documents describe actions for that setting in 
more detail. 

Responsibilities  
 
DsPH have a specific role in preventing and managing COVID-19 outbreaks in their 
Local Authority area, in particular advising on and implementing measures at 
geographic and sectoral level.  This role is being further developed in conjunction 
with the establishment of the Joint Biosecurity Centre (JBC) and the national 
CONTAIN initiative. It includes the development of Local Authority-level outbreak 
plans.  They are responsible to their Local Authorities and the communities they 
serve.   

The Local Authority also has responsibilities for the services for which it is statutorily 
accountable, commissions or directly manages.  In relation to COVID-19, Local 
Authorities work within the newly emerging regional and national structures being 
supported by the JBC.   

The North East Health Protection Team has a specific role in the identification and 
management of outbreaks.  The NE HPT is responsible through PHE national 
arrangements to SoS for Health.  The NE HPT is also responsible within the newly 
emerging regional and national structures being supported by the JBC. 

Outbreak definitions 

Current national COVID-19 outbreak definitions are in Appendix 1  

HPT actions 

Case identification and initial risk assessment 

1. The HPT will be aware of confirmed cases in specified settings through the 
Test and Trace system.  

Page 35



 

24  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
2. A key part of the Test and Trace tier 1 role of the HPT is to identify contacts of 

those confirmed cases and where necessary provide advice to the setting 
(see settings Joint Management documents).  Communication will therefore 
already be in place.  

 
3. If more than one case is identified linked to the setting, or other risks are 

identified, a further risk assessment will be completed and, if necessary, 
immediate control measures will be put in place, in collaboration with Local 
Authority teams where appropriate.  This is particularly the case in relation to 
care homes. 
 

4. The DPH/Local Authority single point of contact will be informed.  It is likely 
(depending on the setting) that the DPH will already be aware and/or have 
been informed of the confirmed case. 
 

5. Issues may also be identified through direct information from the setting, 
information from the Local Authority, NHS Test and Trace tier 2 postcode 
coincidence reports and other emerging surveillance information. 

 

HPT-led OCT 

1. The HPT will declare an outbreak, when required, in keeping with the national 
guidance and in the context of local situational awareness. 
 

2. The outbreak will be managed in keeping with the agreed NE multiagency 
outbreak plan1 and emerging national guidance on settings in relation to 
COVID-19.  

 
3. For care homes, depending on the initial risk assessment, an outbreak will be 

declared but an OCT may not be required with management being handed 
over to Local Authority enhanced teams. 

 
4. When indicated, an initial HPT- led OCT will be convened rapidly, chaired by 

the HPT consultant.  The HPT-led OCT will collectively agree the control 
actions to be delivered by the relevant setting/organisation/agency/body.  The 
OCT will agree criteria for monitoring and further meetings, if required.  Note: 
The HPT-led OCT may decide that a Local Authority-led response is more 
appropriate. The aim will be to minimise meetings.  

 
5. External communication and national reporting will be determined by the 

OCT. 
 

6. The OCT will de-escalate the outbreak in keeping with guidance or will 
escalate the outbreak as below. 

 
 

1POLICY FOR THE INVESTIGATION AND CONTROL OF COMMUNITY OUTBREAKS OF INFECTIOUS DISEASE IN THE 
NORTH EAST 

 

Page 36



 

25  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DPH actions 

Prevention 

1. The DPH and Local Authority have a major role in the prevention of outbreaks 
through community leadership, management, supervision, support, statutory 
and enforcement roles. 
 

2. For some settings the Local Authority has specific roles in terms of statutory 
accountability, commissioning or direct management.  For those settings, 
prevention is likely to be delivered through those roles.  Wraparound teams 
are being developed to augment support. 

 
3. Prevention in some other settings will need a rapid risk assessment to be 

undertaken now by the Local Authority.  Current outbreaks have highlighted 
problems in certain types of factory, eg large scale meat processing factories, 
with high staff turn-over, poor working conditions, poor employment practices 
and poor attention to current guidance. 

 

Surveillance 

1. DsPH will receive nationally generated PHE and other reports. 
 

2. DsPH will receive postcode level data on all positive tests within their patch – 
it is not yet clear how timely these will be. Test results are now also being 
returned to GP systems and surveillance through testing may become viable 
through collaboration with NECS and population health management 
systems. 

 
3. Local Authorities will also marshal other data sources and soft intelligence 

along with the JBC and local partner agencies to enhance COVID 
surveillance, identify otherwise hidden outbreaks and monitor for rising levels 
of viral spread. 

 

Outbreak response 

1. In terms of confirmed HPT-led outbreaks, the DPH and Local Authority will be 
part of the initial HPT-led OCT.  Local Authority representation, in addition to 
the DPH/DPH representative, will be setting dependent.  Note: the HPT-led 
OCT may decide that a DPH/Local Authority-led response is more 
appropriate. 
 

2. The DPH will support access to and use of testing that ensures appropriate 
use of testing in the outbreak. 
 

3. The DPH will oversee/coordinate the Local Authority response to the 
setting/community in terms of advice and support and where necessary 
enforcement.  
 

Page 37



 

26  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4. If the outbreak is not contained, multiple outbreaks are occurring and/or wider 
action is required at sectoral or geographic level, then the outbreak will be 
escalated as follows. 

 

Escalation and de-escalation 

1. Escalation may be required for a number of reasons, such as: 
(a) There are multiple specific setting outbreaks in the North East and Local 

Authorities take on responsibility for managing these within their own area.   
(b) There are some outbreaks (for example cases in key staff in critical 

infrastructure) where immediate escalation may be necessary. 
(c) Local Authority response is triggered by increasing and unlinked community 

transmission.  
(d) Local Authority response is required at a sectoral or geographic level.  
(e) Coordination and/or action is required at LRF/SCG level 
(f) National direction. 

 
2. Subsequent LA-led OCT meetings will be chaired by the Local Authority, 

advised by the HPT.  Regional JBC officers and other national bodies may be 
involved depending on the outbreak/situation. 

 
3. External communication and national reporting will be through the LA-led OCT 

until this is superseded by SCG/equivalent arrangements. 
 
4. The OCT may be subsumed in a nationally directed response. 
 
5. De-escalation will be determined by the LA-led OCT or the SCG/equivalent 

command group. 
 

 DRAFT 25 June 2020  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 38



 

27  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 1 Outbreak definitions: Document circulated by PHE National ICC 5 
June 2020 

 

Context  

1. With lockdown being eased, this paper provides an overview of definitions that 
PHE would use as part of its daily submission to the JBC and ongoing 
monitoring of COVID-19 in different settings. 

 
2. It focuses on outbreak definitions in key settings, prioritising those that are 

critical for local and national infrastructure and areas with significant public and 
press interest. Applied to surveillance data shared with the Joint Biosecurity 
Centre, these definitions will inform local alerts and action and provide 
consistency with how areas manage outbreaks.  

 

Priority settings for the JBC 

1. On this basis, the following categories have been prioritised 
• Local settings: schools, nurseries, cafes, restaurants and bars, religious 

and factory settings    
• Sport and leisure industries  
• National Infrastructure: Police, Fire, Finance, Transportation and 

Parliamentary settings  
• International jurisdictions 
• NHS and healthcare facilities 
• Institutional and residential settings e.g. prisons, care homes, boarding 

schools.   

 

Outbreak definition for non-residential settings  

1. Table 1 provides the definition of an outbreak in non-residential settings and also 
includes the criteria to measure recovery and declare the end of an outbreak. 
This definition is consistent with the WHO outbreak definition.  

 
2. A cluster definition is also provided to capture situations where there is less 

epidemiological evidence for transmission within the setting itself and there may 
be alternative sources of infection; however, these clusters would trigger further 
investigation. 

 
Table 1: Declaring and ending an outbreak and cluster in a non-residential 
setting (e.g. a workplace, local settings such as schools and national 
infrastructure) 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  
Cluster Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 

among individuals associated with a specific 
setting with onset dates within 14 days  

No confirmed cases with 
onset dates in the last 14 
days 

Page 39



 

28  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  
  
(In the absence of available information 
about exposure between the index case and 
other cases) 

Outbreak Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 
among individuals associated with a specific 
setting with onset dates within 14 days  
  
AND ONE OF: 
  
Identified direct exposure between at least 
two of the confirmed cases in that setting 
(e.g. within 2 metres for >15 minutes) during 
the infectious period of the putative index 
case 
 
OR 
 
(when there is no sustained community 
transmission or equivalent JBC risk level) - 
absence of alternative source of infection 
outside the setting for initially identified cases 

No confirmed cases with 
onset dates in the last 28 
days in that setting (higher 
threshold for outbreaks 
compared to clusters) 

 

3. Table 2 provides a broader definition of an outbreak in residential settings. This 
definition differs from the definition for non-residential settings because SARS 
CoV2 is known to spread more readily in residential settings, such as care 
homes and places of detention, therefore a cluster definition is not required.  

 

Table 2: Declaring and ending an outbreak and cluster in an institutional or 
residential setting, such as a care home or place of detention 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  
Outbreak Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 

OR clinically suspected cases of COVDI-19 
among individuals associated with a specific 
setting with onset dates within 14 days  
  
NB. If there is a single laboratory confirmed 
case, this would initiate further investigation 
and risk assessment. 

No confirmed cases with 
onset dates in the last 28 
days in that setting 

 

  

Page 40



 

29  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Table 3: Declaring and ending an outbreak and cluster in an inpatient setting 
such as a hospital ward or ambulatory healthcare services, including primary 
care 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  
Outbreak 
in an 
inpatient 
setting 

Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 
OR clinically suspected cases of COVDI-19 
among individuals associated with a specific 
setting with onset dates 8-14 days after 
admissions within the same ward or wing of 
a hospital.   
 
NB. If there is a single laboratory confirmed 
case, this would initiate further investigation 
and risk assessment. 

No confirmed cases with 
onset dates in the last 28 
days in that setting (higher 
threshold for outbreaks 
compared to clusters 

Outbreak 
in an 
outpatient 
setting  

Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 
among individuals associated with a specific 
setting with onset dates within 14 days  
  
AND ONE OF: 
  
Identified direct exposure between at least 
two of the confirmed cases in that setting 
(e.g. within 2 metres for >15 minutes) during 
the infectious period of the putative index 
case 
 
OR 
 
(when there is no sustained community 
transmission or equivalent JBC risk level) - 
absence of alternative source of infection 
outside the setting for initially identified 
cases 

No confirmed cases with 
onset dates in the last 28 
days in that setting 

 

Protocols for managing outbreaks and incidents with multiple agencies  

4. There are existing multiagency incident management protocols in place for 
managing complex incidents. These are led by local Health Protection Teams in 
collaboration with the relevant partner agencies for setting in question.  

 
5. In addition, local government is also providing support on identifying and 

managing outbreaks with advice and support on guidance, infection prevention 
control, cleaning and social distancing for schools, nurseries and care home 
settings.  

 
6. For complex outbreaks multiagency meetings are co-ordinated in the following 

situations:  
(a) there has been a death in the setting 
(b) there are a large number of vulnerable people 

Page 41



 

30  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) there are a high number of cases 
(d) the outbreak has been ongoing despite usual control and infection control 

measures 
(e) there are concerns on the safe running of the setting or institution  
(f) there are other factors that require multi-agency coordination and decision 

making 
  

Page 42



 

31  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 3 
 

Outbreak Response Group 
 

Terms of Reference 
 
Purpose 
 

1. The Darlington Outbreak Response Group is accountable to the Health 
Protection Board for the response and management of a COVID-19 outbreak 
in the community. 

 
Objectives 
 

2. Key objectives include: 
 
(a) Review the data on testing and tracing. 
(b) Manage specific outbreaks and advise the Health Protection Board 
(c) Provide a SPOC (via a phone number and email address) which will be 

monitored and responded to 7 days a week.  Where an urgent response is 
required, additional contact telephone numbers will be made available.   

(d) Implement operational response in line with the Outbreak Management 
Plan; including: 

 
• Provide, coordinate and review support to complex setting to implement 

Infection Control and Prevention (IPC) measures (including access to 
PPE, provision of cleaning etc). 

•  
• Provide and review advice and support to complex settings including 

businesses, care homes and schools regarding continuity issues following 
closure or particular closure of a setting or high level of absenteeism. 

•  
• Make contact with individual cases where there are issues identified 

regarding engagement with advice provided/loss to follow-up. 
•  
• Support the Health Protection Board and response to local media issues 

working with PHE and other partners to prepare a joint response. 
 

o Receive the daily summary table listing of issues and share the 
information with the relevant local authority departments to aid 
operational management. 

o Provide updates to the PHE HPT on the action taken at a local level 
and report back any significant concerns regarding ongoing risk of 
spread of infection. 

 
o Provide reports to the Health Protection Board for assurance that 

outbreak management is effective. 

Page 43



 

32  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Membership 
 

• Public Health Principal – Chair 
• Environmental Health Manager/Officer 
• Communications Officer 
• Housing Manager/Lifeline/Options 
• Education Partnerships 
• Community Safety rep/private sector landlord 
• Systems and Strategy Development representative 
• Programme Management/Performance representative 

 
Note: Those roles with an asterisk are invited depending on the outbreak 
setting or type of complex case. 
 
 
Arrangements 
 
The Outbreak Response Group will meet three times per week (Mon/Wed/Fri) to 
develop the local response to the information received by the SPOC via the North 
East Health Protection Team.  The frequency of these meetings may change in 
response to local activity and needs of local communities.  Administration support 
will be provided by Public Health. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

33  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 4 
 

 
 

P
age 45



 

34  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 5 
Guidance 

NHS test and trace: how it works 

 

The NHS test and trace service will help to control the rate of reproduction (R), 
reduce the spread of the infection and save lives. An overview of the NHS test and 
trace service, including what happens if you test positive for coronavirus (COVID-19) 
or have had close contact with someone who has tested positive.  

 

Test and trace service: 

• Ensures that anyone who develops symptoms of coronavirus (COVID-19) 
can quickly be tested to find out if they have the virus, and also includes 
targeted asymptomatic testing of NHS and social care staff and care home 
residents 

• Helps trace close recent contacts of anyone who tests positive for 
coronavirus and, if necessary, notifies them that they must self-isolate at 
home to help stop the spread of the virus 

 

Key actions to help stop the spread: 

• If you develop symptoms, you must continue to follow the rules to self-
isolate with other members of your household and order a test to find out if 
you have coronavirus 

• If you test positive for coronavirus, you must share information promptly 
about your recent contacts through the NHS test and trace service to help 
us alert other people who may need to self-isolate 

• If you have had close recent contact with someone who has coronavirus, 
you must self-isolate if the NHS test and trace service advises you to do 
so 

 

Practical steps in the following situations: 

• For someone with symptoms of coronavirus 
• If you are contacted by the NHS test and trace service because you have 

been in close contact with someone who has tested positive for 
coronavirus 

 

Guidance for people who develop symptoms: 

• When to self-isolate 
• How to order a test 

Page 46



 

35  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Testing negative or positive 
• Health care workers 
• Telling people about your result 
• Sharing information about recent contacts 
• Contact from NHS tracers 
• What you will be asked – how the info will be used 

 

Guidance for people who have had close contact with someone with 
coronavirus: 

• If you are told to self-isolate 
• How you will be told to self-isolate 
• What happens next 
• How we contact you 

 

Support for people self-isolating: 

We will direct you to your local authority helpline if you need the following during the 
period of self-isolation: 

• Practical or social support for yourself 
• Support for someone you care for  
• Financial support 

 

 

 

  

Page 47



 

36  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 6 

Health Protection: Legal and Policy Context  

The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which present a 
risk to the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and management sits: 

• With Public Health England under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
• With Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
• With Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health (Control 

of Disease) Act 1984  
• With NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups2 to collaborate with Directors of 

Public Health and Public Health England to take local action (e.g. testing 
and treating) to assist the management of outbreaks under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012  

• With other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to major 
incidents as part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004  

• In the context of COVID-19 there is also the Coronavirus Act 2020.  
 

This underpinning context gives local authorities (public health and environmental 
health) and Public Health England the primary responsibility for the delivery and 
management of public health actions to be taken in relation to outbreaks of 
communicable disease through local Health Protection Partnerships (sometimes 
these are called Local Health Resilience Partnerships) and local memoranda of 
understanding. These arrangements are clarified in the 2013 guidance Health 

Protection in Local Government. 

  

PHE is mandated to fulfil the Secretary of State’s duty to protect the public’s health 
from infectious diseases, working with the NHS, local government and other 
partners. This includes providing surveillance; specialist services, such as diagnostic 
and reference microbiology; investigation and management of outbreaks of 
infectious diseases; ensuring effective emergency preparedness, resilience and 
response for health emergencies. At a local level PHE’s health protection teams and 
field services work in partnership with DsPH, playing strategic and operational 
leadership roles both in the development and implementation of outbreak control 
plans and in the identification and management of outbreaks.  

 

The Director of Public Health has and retains primary responsibility for the health of 
their communities. This includes being assured that the arrangements to protect the 
health of the communities that they serve are robust and are implemented. The 
primary foundation of developing and deploying local outbreak management plans is 
the public health expertise of the local Director of Public Health. 

 

Page 48



 

37  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This legal context for health protection is designed to underpin the foundational 
leadership of the local Director of Public Health in a local area, working closely with 
other professionals and sectors (see Figure ).  

 

Figure : A simplified diagram of the Local Health Protection System. 

 

 
Data Sharing: Legal and policy context2 

Agencies will assume they are required to adopt a proactive approach to sharing 
information by default, in line with the Instructions of the Secretary of State, the 
Statement of the Information Commissioner on COVID-19 and the Civil 
Contingencies Act.  

 

The Secretary of State has issued 4 notices under the Health Service Control of 
Patient Information Regulations 2002 requiring the following organisations to process 
information: NHS Digital, NHS England and Improvement, health organisations, 
arm’s length bodies, local authorities, GPs. These notices require that data is shared 
for purposes of coronavirus (COVID-19) and give health organisations and local 
authorities the security and confidence to share the data they need to respond to 
coronavirus (COVID-19).  

These can be found at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-
COVID-19-notification-of-data-controllers-to-share-information. 

 

 
2 ADPH, FPH, PHE, LGA et al (2020) Public Health Leadership, Multi-Agency Capability: Guiding Principles 

for Effective Management of COVID-19 at a Local Level. https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/Guiding-Principles-for-Making-Outbreak-Management-Work-Final.pdf 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-notification-of-data-controllers-to-share-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-notification-of-data-controllers-to-share-information
https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Guiding-Principles-for-Making-Outbreak-Management-Work-Final.pdf
https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Guiding-Principles-for-Making-Outbreak-Management-Work-Final.pdf


 

38  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The data sharing permissions under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the 
statement of the Information Commissioner all apply. Under the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004 (CCA) and the Contingency Planning Regulations, Category 1 and 2 
responders have a duty to share information with other Category 1 and 2 
responders. This is required for those responders to fulfil their duties under the CCA. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 50



 

39  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 7 

 

 

Update on Whole Care Home Testing 19 June 2020  

Repeat Whole Care Home Testing  

 
From 7 June 2020, Whole Care Home Testing became available for all care homes 
providing care for adults.  
 
The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) has not issued a policing on 
retesting. This means that care homes that have already had whole care home 
testing cannot request repeat whole care home testing yet.  
 
Unused test kits that are leftover from whole care home testing should not be used to 
test staff or residents who have already been tested.  
 
DHSC will issue advice when repeat testing is available.  
 
What if residents or staff develop symptoms of COVID-19?  
 
Testing is available for symptomatic residents and staff regardless of whether whole 
care home testing has been undertaken.  
 
1. Residents  
 
Reporting an outbreak of COVID-19 to the Health Protection Team  
You should contact the Public Health England North East Protection Team on  
 
0300 303 8596 if:  
 

• You suspect your care home may have a new coronavirus outbreak 
(i.e. this is the first time one or more of your residents have had symptoms)  

• It has been 28 days or longer since your last resident had COVID-19 and 
there are new cases.  

 
The Health Protection Team will provide advice about managing cases and arrange 
the first tests.  
 
Residents who develop symptoms after initial PHE testing  
 

• District nurses will arrange testing for residents who develop symptoms after 
the initial cases.  

• Care homes using the Health Call portal request testing by a referral to 
district nursing. Care homes NOT using the Health Call portal should 
telephone the community health services Single Point of Access (SPA) on 
0300 026 7979  

Page 51



 

40  29/06/2020 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2. Staff who have symptoms of COVID-19  
 
Testing is available for:  

• Care home staff with symptoms of COVID-19 who are self-isolating  
• Household members of care home staff with symptoms of COVID-19 (where 

staff are well but self-isolating)  
 
Darlington Memorial Hospital drive through testing site  

• Results are usually be available within 24-48 hours (this is quicker than 
through the mobile testing units or regional site in Newcastle). Testing is 
available 7 days per week  

• To check eligibility and to make an appointment staff should call the COVID 
Testing Hotline on 01388 455699 and select Option 3 between 9am and 
3pm, Monday to Friday.  

• Staff need to do this within the first five days from the onset of symptoms.  
 
The Regional Testing Site at Newcastle Great Park and Mobile Testing Units  

• Testing can be booked through the NECS single point of contact 
https://nhscovidtestne.onk2.com (this provides quicker access to testing 
appointments and results are usually available within 24 hours) or the national 
portal https://www.gov.uk/apply-coronavirus-test  

 

Page 52



 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
 

RECOVERY/’BUILD BACK BETTER’ PLANS 
 
1. Background and Context 

 
The Trust (TEWV) is currently working hard to plan for Phase 3 and 4 of the 
pandemic in line with national requirements.  When the pandemic started we did not 
stand down many of our services, but changed the way we were delivering them with 
an increased focus on remote delivery via telephone or a digital platform.  There 
have been some exceptions to this, including memory clinics for dementia diagnosis 
and assessments as part of an Autism diagnosis (both for adults and children).  
However we are still developing plans to ensure that as we move into the next 
phases we continue to deliver our services.  As part of this planning we are currently: 
 

 Developing a model to help us forecast what the implications in terms of the 
mental health of the populations we serve, and the subsequent potential increase 
in demand for services, as a consequence of the pandemic.  This will include the 
impact of the anticipated financial downturn and the impact on the emotional 
health and wellbeing of staff across the system.    

 Reviewing the options for how we can reinstate those services we have stood 
down whilst still maintaining the safety of our staff and service users 

 Reflecting on the changes we have made as part of the response phase of the 
pandemic and identifying which of those we believe it would be helpful to 
maintain or stop.   

 Exploring how we can continue to support the wider system and ensure our 
services in the future provided is a way that meets the needs of the patients and 
the wider system 

 Looking at how we can get feedback on the changes we have implemented from 
service users and carers to ensure that we take their views into account in 
developing our plans 

 Considering how we ensure we can maintain appropriate separation of any 
Covid-19 positive patients that are admitted onto our wards 

 Considering how we can ensure that our buildings can support increased 
numbers of staff to return to work bases whilst still maintaining social 
distancing/IPC preventative measures.  Our current message to staff remains 
that if they can work from home then this is what they should do, however, as the 
restrictions get lifted further it may be necessary for more staff to return to their 
bases. 

 
2. Health Impact Assessment and Demand Forecasting 
 
From work being completed through the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) recovery cell 
and internally within TEWV, it is clear that TEWV and the wider system should 
expect a surge of additional mental health demand over the coming months and 
years.  Broadly speaking this will come from: 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 New Covid-19 related demand - Mental health support for Covid-19 survivors; 
mental health impact of lockdown on vulnerable groups ; moral injury amongst 
frontline staff (all key workers) 

 Backlog of clinical activity - Backlog of clinical activity not possible to be done 
due to restrictions (eg autism assessments, dementia assessments); increased 
referrals and demand as a result of referring agencies getting back to normality 
(schools, GPs, social care etc); delayed diagnosis and access to treatment for 
more routine/non urgent cases resulting in increasing complexity of case loads  

 Exacerbation and relapse of mental health conditions - Relapse due to 
impact of Covid19 on mental health, continuity of care, bereavement, changes to 
social conditions, 

 Long term impact of the socioeconomic consequences - Impact of 
unemployment, reduced finances, ‘austerity’ , relationship breakdown  
 

 
 
The Health Impact Assessment, including a mental health and emotional wellbeing 
impact assessment, led by the LRF recovery group is currently being finalised.  This 
will give a helpful, system-wide picture of the possible impact of COVID and 
lockdown on the local Darlington community.  In parallel, work undertaken in TEWV 
is in progress to produce a set of indicative figures, by area, of anticipated additional 
mental health demand over the next 5 years.  Although not an exact science, these 
numbers will be built up through research and evidence from elsewhere, as well as 
expert clinical judgement.  Similar to national predictions, we are anticipating 
significant volume of additional needs which will challenge systems and TEWV over 
the next 5 years.   
 
3. Key Issues for Darlington System Working 

 
3.1. Care Homes  

 

Page 54



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Care Homes have been a particular focus for support over the past 4 months and 
much of this work is being fed into our recovery planning.  Our recovery plans, both 
within TEWV and working with partners, include: 
 

 Continued support directly into Older People’s Care Homes (in particular those 
with EMI provision) to give bespoke support to individual residents and staff 

 Continued work with DBC and health commissioners to provide similar bespoke 
input to specialist (MH/LD) Care Homes, for both residents and staff 

 Continuing to build on our offer to care home staff which currently includes 

o Computerised CBT via Talking Changes 
o One off anonymised support over the phone via CNTW  
o 1-1 or other bespoke support for any care home staff via Care Home Liaison 

Team 
o Self -guided support through the Recovery College  
o New PHE e-learning on Psychological First Aid during COVID-19  

 
Further work (being led by DBC) will help form a future assurance framework for 
care homes across Darlington. 
 
3.2. Supporting System Activity 
 
The mental health pathway that has been developed to support community hubs will 
continue to support partners in the system appropriately signpost any mental health 
need to services.  The Recovery College Online continues to introduce new modules 
and courses/offers as feedback is shared with what the system would find most 
helpful.  There has been positive feedback about this, substantiated by a significant 
number of increased ‘hits’ (total of over 13,500 additional hits during just 1 month 
with almost 12,000 new users). 
 
3.3. Workforce Support 
 
A small working group has been set up to rapidly consider how best as a system we 
can support the key worker workforce in particular over the coming months through a 
‘resilience hub’ or similar.  This will build on the resources put in place through 
lockdown period (such as the care home support outlined above), but will bring in a 
range of other services so we are able to provide a more co-ordinated, 
comprehensive offer. 
 
4. Key Issues for TEWV Darlington Services 
 
Within our TEWV services further work has started, to develop the medium and long 
term plans as we better understand need and demand for services moving forward.  
This will include feedback from local partners, users and carers about what has 
worked well over the past 4 months that we need to retain moving forward. 
 
5. Conclusion and Next Steps 
 
Over the past 4 months, the Trust has adapted quickly to new ways of delivering 
services to ensure that we have been able to sustain mental health support for those 
who need it.  This has included the rapid development of targeted new offers to meet 
different and COVID-specific system need.  Recovery plans within the Trust and 

Page 55



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Durham and Darlington locality are at a relatively early stage due to a level of 
uncertainty about future need and demand for services.  Whilst there are a number 
of important steps being taken to provide some rapid mitigation for the expected 
surge in demand, such as implementation of a 24/7 mental health support line, there 
is a range of other aspects which we will be focusing on in more detail over the 
coming weeks.  This includes: 
 

 More specific planning (internally and with partners at system level) and 
service/system development/change based on forecasting work 

 Development of a ‘resilience hub’ or similar for the system workforce to 
support with any COVID related need  

 Embedding a sustainable model to provide enhanced support to the care 
home sector (older people and specialist providers) 

 Proactive planning with schools in anticipation of a level of increased need 
from September 

 Embedding support for community hubs to provide early intervention and 
community based support for those most vulnerable 

 
Jennifer Illingworth 
Director of Operations – Durham & Darlington 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
July 2020 
 
 

Page 56


	Agenda
	3 Covid Update
	3(a) Darlington Local Outbreak Control Plan
	4 Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust Recovery/'Build Back Better' Plans

